I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

SHIRLEY GODWIN was the respondent in the trial court below and the appellant in the district court, and will be referred to in this brief as the petitioner or by her name. The state of Florida was the appellee below and will be referred to as the state. Petitioner will designate references to the record and transcript by the symbols "R" and "T" respectively followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. All trial court proceedings were in the Second Judicial Circuit Court, Leon County Florida. Initial appeal was before the First District Court of Appeal.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 19, 1989 Godwin was involuntarily committed to the Florida State Hospital, a mental health facility, pursuant to the trial court's ruling on the state's petition for involuntary placement. (R 1-2; R 9).

Dr. Bragado-Spence, a psychiatrist, testified at the hearing that Godwin had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, a mental illness (T 4). Bragado-Spence recommended placement at Florida State Hospital (T 4). When asked on cross-examination what Godwin did which fit the definition of manic, Bragado-Spence replied, "pressured speech, flighty ideas, screaming, yelling, inappropriate. She's laughing, she's talking, yelling at the walls, yelling at anything, telling the staff members that she has been going through on Route 27, Mexican's with machetes are after her (T 11).

Bragado-Spence opined that commitment to the state hospital was the least restrictive alternative as Godwin was unable to care for herself (T 4).

Bragado-Spence testified that Godwin had been wandering the streets, had been sick, didn't make any sense, had her mother worried. Bragado-Spence further noted that Godwin kept going to the police, the sheriff, or the emergency room to try to get her children back from her ex-husband. The authorities would then bring Godwin to the mental health unit (T 5).

Bragado-Spence stated Godwin had been admitted three times to PATH since March of 1989 (T 5).<sup>1</sup>

The latest incident resulting in Godwin's placement in PATH and recommendation by Bragado-Spence for involuntary placement was Godwin's wandering into the sheriff's office. The sheriff's office brought Godwin to PATH claiming that Godwin was not making any sense (T 5, 9). At the time, Godwin was filthy and her feet were badly blistered (T 9).

In regard to whether Godwin was able to care for herself, Bragado-Spence described Godwin as being a mess when she came to PATH. Bragado-Spence acknowledged that now Godwin looked fine but "she came like a street person" (R 5). Subsequent to Godwin's last discharge from PATH Bragado-Spence received reports that Godwin was seen walking down the streets and sleeping around bus stops (T 5).

Bragado-Spence also noted that Godwin had previously had bronchitis and had to be placed on antibiotics (T 6).

Bragado-Spence said Godwin denied she was living on the streets (T 6).

---

<sup>1</sup> PATH is a short term residential program intervention run by the Apalachee Center for Human Services. After the initial crisis intervention, generally individuals are either released from PATH, voluntarily commit themselves to a long term facility, or application is made for their involuntary commitment to a facility such as Florida State Hospital. PATH is an acronym for Positive Alternative to Hospitalization.

According to Bragado-Spence's testimony on direct examination, Godwin's children are in the custody of Godwin's mother (T 6). On cross-examination, Bragado-Spence clarified that Godwin's mother had three of Godwin's children and Godwin's ex-husband had two of Godwin's children (T 10). Bragado-Spence noted that Godwin lost custody of her baby right before the last hospitalization after she was seen strolling down the highway with the child (T 6). Godwin thought a Mexican had kidnapped the child (T 6).

Bragado-Spence noted Godwin refused to take medication on the grounds she was not ill (T 7).

Godwin had a prior work history and was doing well until about five years ago.

Bragado-Spence noted that while Godwin gets angry and escalates and talks, Godwin had never been physically violent (T 7-8).

On cross-examination Bragado-Spence stated that the factors she used to determine Godwin was unable to care for herself was that Godwin wanders throughout the streets and doesn't get treatment when she is sick. She cited as an example Godwin not taking antibiotics which had been prescribed by the emergency room (T 8). Godwin had also told Bragado-Spence in the past that the reason for Godwin's bronchitis was not smoking enough cigarettes (T 9).

On re-direct the state asked Bragado-Spence:

State: So, then, just to focus then, the standard we are meeting about unable to care for herself, are you concerned that

her physical health, because of her exposure and lifestyle, is such that will result in severe illness to her?

Bragado-Spence: I'm concerned about her, yes (T 12).

Godwin testified that by court order she had custody of her children from June to August (T 13). She noted her ex-husband had previously attempted suicide (T 13).

Regarding custody of her children Godwin further noted,

...Because I did not want to start no trouble with him or fight with him. So, I went to the Police Department Friday and he told me to go to the courthouse and get custody -- papers where I have custody of my kids, and I did that, circuit custody of my kids. And when I got my divorce, he told me that any time that he tried to interrupt, that circuit papers override juvenile papers where there is not juvenile dispute, when they have never been in any trouble. And they was only eleven and four. And I only let him have them because he tried to commit suicide (T 15).

Godwin further denied living on the street or being filthy. She did acknowledge blistered feet (T 15).

Godwin said at the time she had bronchitis, she was working at Wendy's (T 16). Godwin described side effects from the lithium as including grossly swollen glands in explaining why she would not take the medication (T 16).

Subsequent to the court order committing her to the Florida State Hospital, Godwin appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, arguing that there was insufficient evidence that she met the criteria for involuntary commitment under the Baker Act.

Godwin was discharged from Florida State Hospital on September 21, 1989 slightly over two months from the date she was committed and one day after undersigned counsel received a copy of the commitment hearing.

The state filed a motion to dismiss, alleging the matter to be moot since appellant was discharged from the hospital during the pendency of the appeal.

The district court issued an opinion granting the motion to dismiss finding the appeal to be moot. In so doing, the court noted,

[W]e express reservations in applying the mootness doctrine to this case and certify the following question to be one of great public importance: WHEN AN INDIVIDUAL SEEKING REVIEW OF AN ORDER OF INVOLUNTARY COMMITMENT HAS BEEN RELEASED FROM THAT COMMITMENT PRIOR TO DISPOSITION OF THE APPEAL ON THE MERITS, WHAT SHOWING MUST SHE MAKE TO AVOID DISMISSAL OF THE APPEAL ON THE GROUNDS OF MOOTNESS?

Godwin v. State, 15 F.L.W. 667, 557 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. March 12, 1990).

Godwin filed a timely notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction and this proceeding follows.

### III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court of Appeal erred in finding, as a result of Godwin's intervening discharge from commitment, that Godwin's appeal is moot. Involuntary commitments are a massive deprivation of liberty. Even after the individual is discharged, collateral consequences follow from the commitment. Moreover, as a direct consequence of the commitment, the State of Florida can levy and enforce against against petitioner a lien for the costs of her care while involuntarily confined. Further, involuntary commitments are an exception to the mootness doctrine in that they are capable of repetition yet elude review. As a matter of public policy, this court should except review of mental health commitments from dismissal for mootness.

In the second issue, Godwin argues the trial court erred in ordering appellant involuntarily committed to Florida State Hospital pursuant to Section 394.476, Florida Statutes.

Petitioner submits the state failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that petitioner was incapable of surviving alone or that her neglect of herself resulted in a real and present threat of substantial harm to her well-being, an essential criteria for lawful commitment.

Testimony established petitioner had been brought to the mental health facility because she was not making sense to the sheriff's office. While this was probative of the issue of mental illness, it did not tend to prove a real and present threat of substantive harm.

Petitioner's other actions, such as walking the streets and being filthy, did not rise to clear and convincing proof of substantial harm. Her refusal to take lithium was a reasonable decision given it's side effects.

While Dr. Bragado-Spence paints a picture of a mentally ill woman whose conduct raises the question of harm to her well-being, the state simply did not present sufficient evidence to meet the criteria of the statute.

The state's evidence was insufficient to meet their burden, and the court's commitment order should be reversed.

#### IV ARGUMENT

##### ISSUE I

##### WHETHER GODWIN'S RELEASE FROM INVOLUNTARY CONFINEMENT DURING THE PENDENCY OF HER APPEAL RENDERS THE CASE MOOT

In Kinner v. State, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981) this court declined to rule on whether sufficient evidence was adduced to support Kinner's confinement at a residential retardation facility finding Kinner's discharge had mooted the issue. However, in the same case the court declined to apply the mootness doctrine to another question raised in Kinner's appeal, i.e. the constitutionality of Section 393.11, Florida Statutes.

In so ruling, this court noted,

It is well established that this Court will not determine a controversy where issues have become moot, unless the questions presented are of general public interest and importance, or unless such judgment as this Court might enter would affect the rights of parties. (citations omitted). We feel that this case raises a question of great public importance, the resolution of which will affect a significant number of retarded citizens who are presently institutionalized as a result of the application of the predecessor statute.

Id. at 1362.

Kinner illustrates that the determination that a cause is moot in some aspect does not leave the court without authority to decide the matter. Given Kinner's release from the institution, the constitutionality of the statute he was committed under, as well as the sufficiency of the evidence for commitment, could be argued to be moot as to him. However, for

what was basically a public policy reason, the statute's impact on other individuals, this Court decided the question of the statute's constitutionality.

Petitioner submits in this brief that as a matter of public policy as well as collateral consequences attendant on commitment, the issue of the sufficiency of the evidence for involuntary commitment should survive an individual's release from that commitment.

The First District Court of Appeal in In re Sealy, 218 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969) impliedly adopted this position without discussion. There the appellate court reversed the trial court's order finding Sealy to be mentally incompetent and committing him to the state hospital despite noting that Sealy's "judicial sanity having been restored by court order, the only apparent purpose of this appeal is to remove the stigma of incompetency from his record". Id. at 768.

In Madden v. State, 463 So.2d 270 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) the appellate court declined to dismiss Madden's appeal from involuntary commitment, despite his release, finding that "the Federal Aviation Administration, as a collateral consequence of appellant's involuntary commitment, revoked appellant's medical certificate and suspended his pilot's license." Id. at 271.

The court in Madden distinguished Madden's case from Westlake v. State, 440 So.2d 74 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) on the basis of the action taken against Madden by the Federal Aviation administration.

In Westlake, the appellate court found since no collateral consequences had been shown and Westlake had been dismissed from his commitment, the appeal was moot.

Both Madden and Westlake accept as a premise that a showing of "collateral consequences" would bar dismissal under the mootness doctrine. However, both also seem to put the burden on the appellant to show collateral consequences rather than placing the burden on the state to show an absence of collateral consequences. Appellant, based on authority and argument *infra*, submits Madden and Westlake have misplaced this burden.

Moreover, one need only review the statute itself to find a consequence perhaps more aptly described as direct rather than collateral. Section 394.457(8), Florida Statutes, provides "Fees and fee collections for patients in treatment facilities shall be according to 402.33." Section 402.33, Florida Statutes, provides in part,

The department, in accordance with rules established by it, shall either charge, assess, or collect, or cause to be charged, assessed, or collected, fees for any service it may provide its clients either directly or through its agencies or contractors, except for...[several exceptions are enumerated here]...

Unpaid fees for services provided by the department to a client constitute a lien on any property owned by the client or the client's responsible party which property is not exempt by s.4, Art. X of the State Constitution...

The statute further provides for enforcement of the lien, continuation of the lien for three years beyond the client's death, and interest on the lien.

Thus, this statute alone appears to provide the consequence such that petitioner's claim she was unlawfully committed cannot be deemed moot.

Potential liability for the cost of their care was the partial basis for a New Jersey appellate court's ruling that petitioners' discharge from hospitalization did not moot their appeal contesting the commitment, the court noting,

The first question is whether these cases have been rendered moot by the discharge from hospitalization of the three patients involved. They have not. The cases present problems that are capable of repetition and yet of evading review. The same problems may be expected to arise in other cases and to continue to divide the trial courts. (citations omitted). Moreover, the liability of these and perhaps many other patients for the cost of their care may arguably be affected by the propriety of their commitment proceedings. N.J.S.A. 30:4-49 et seq. We do not answer question of liability now, because it is not before us. (emphasis supplied).

In re Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287, 1290, 197 N.Super. 330, (N.J. Super. A.D. 1984). See State v. Van Tassel, 484 P.2d 1117, 5 Or. App. 376 (Or. App. 1971) (appeal from commitment proceeding not moot notwithstanding intervening discharge, a decision in petitioner's favor would remove petitioner's potential financial liability for his commitment imposed by state statute).

As discussed below, many courts which have considered the issue of mootness in the context of an involuntary commitment have favored deciding the claim as opposed to dismissing it on what appears to be public policy grounds. In many of these decisions is a concern for the collateral consequences, including unavoidable social stigma, which follow involuntary commitment. Further, there is a repeated concern that such cases fall in the general category of cases which can continually evade review.

In State v. Van Tassel, supra the court discussed at length the policy behind the mootness doctrine and its applicability to cases similar to the one at bar. In declining to dismiss the appeal, the court noted the substantial interest a person has in his reputation as evidenced by tort laws allowing for libel and slander actions. The court found analogous the United States Supreme Court's decision in Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 88 S.Ct. 1889, 20 L.Ed.2d 917 (1968) citing its holding that, "a criminal case is moot only if it is shown that there is no legal possibility that any collateral legal consequences will be imposed on the basis of the challenged conviction" 392 U.S. at 57, 88 S.Ct. at 1900 quoted in State v. Van Tassel, supra, 484 P.2d at 1120. In discussing this analogy and collateral consequences of a civil commitment the court stated:

The criminal and contempt cases referred to ... provide strong analogy to the case at bar. In both types of cases and in the case at bar, the subject was involuntarily committed to the custody of the state. In

both, a social stigma attaches which affects the person's reputation and earning earning potential. Although ORS 426.160 does put limits on the availability of the judicial record of commitment, it is no secret that defendant was committed to the Oregon State Hospital in Salem, Oregon. Furthermore, inquiry into a person's history of mental health by, for example, a prospective employer or bonding agency, would be legitimate. ORS 426.160 would not prohibit defendant from disclosing anything contained in the court record of his commitment. In fact, if he refused to give a prospective employer or surety such information, he could very well be turned down for that reason. Finally, the fact that defendant has been involuntarily committed as a mentally ill person would not be a secret, irrespective of other material contained in the court record. Whether a society should view mental illness as carrying with it more stigma than any other form of illness, it, in fact, does. A legal commitment for mental illness may have deleterious collateral effects in addition to stigma.

State v. Van Tassel, supra 484 P.2d at 1121, 1122.

Similarly, the North Carolina Supreme Court has rejected a mootness attack on an appeal from a commitment order. In re Hatley 231 S.E.2d 633, 291 N.C. 693 (N.C. 1977). As in Van Tassel, the court in Hatley found Sibron v. New York, concerning mootness of a criminal appeal, analagous. The court further noted that Hatley's commitment order recited that Hatley had a history of prior commitments. The court concluded that "the possibility that respondent's commitment in this case might likewise form the basis for a future commitment, along with other obvious collateral legal consequences, convinces us that this appeal is not moot. In re Hatley, supra, 231 S.E.2d at 635.

The Texas Supreme Court resolved a conflict in the lower appellate courts by concluding the mootness doctrine would not be applied where patients appealing their involuntary commitment would be discharged pending review. The lower appellate court in Lodge v. State, 597 S.W.2d 773 (Tex.Civ.App. 4 Dist. 1980) (hereinafter referred to as Lodge I) considered the issue in terms of two general exceptions to a finding of mootness. One, where an issue was capable of repetition, yet evading review and secondly where collateral consequences ensued from the commitment. Lodge I, supra.

The court found:

appeals from temporary civil commitment orders are deemed to satisfy the 'capable of repetition, yet evading review' requirement because the appellant generally suffers from recurring stages of mental illness which require short-term involuntary confinements which invariably expire before there is an opportunity for appellate review. See In re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648, 651 (D.C. Cir. 1973).

Lodge I, supra, 597 S.W.2d at 775.

The court further found there were collateral consequences as a result of the commitment. In so doing, the court noted:

[T]he adverse collateral consequences of being adjudicated mentally ill remain to effect the patient long after his release. In re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648, 651-52 (D.C. Cir. 1973).

...  
The stigma and adverse consequences flowing from a judicial determination of mental illness are too well known to require repetition here. See Lessard v. Schmidt, 349 F.Supp. 1078, 1094 (E.D. Wis. 1972); Note, Developments in the Law of Civil Commitment of the Mentally Ill, 87 Harv.L.Rev. 1190, 1193-1201 (1974). The

consequences of a commitment for mental illness are often barely distinguishable from those collateral consequences which flow from a conviction of crime, or an adjudication of delinquency in the case of a minor. See *State v. Turner*, 556 S.W.2d 563, 565-66 (Tex. 1977). Comment, Overt Dangerous Behavior as a Constitutional Requirement for Involuntary Civil Commitment of the Mentally Ill, 44 U.Chi.L.Rev. 562, 563 (1977). A person who has been discharged from confinement following involuntary commitment to a mental hospital cannot be said to stand in the same position as one who has "voluntarily" satisfied a judgment in the "ordinary civil case".

Lodge I, supra, 597 S.W.2d at 776.

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