IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHIRLEY GODWIN,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 75,881

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHLEEN E. MOORE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0750174

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 488-1573

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

Although such stigma was judicially recognized by at least one federal court as the basis for determining the proper quantum of proof to be applied to civil commitment proceedings, that same court relied on the possibility of collateral legal, not social, consequences as a basis for rejecting the mootness argument presented there. re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648 (D.C. Cir. 1973). such collateral legal consequences (e.g., restriction of voting rights, jury service, driver's licenses or gun licenses) have been suggested to us in the instant We observe, moreover, that the most salutory relief available to a person wrongfully committed would be release pursuant to a timely petition for writ of habeas corpus, not an impractical appeal which cannot avert short-term confinement. any event, we are governed by precedent of the Florida Supreme Court (Kinner) rather than that of the federal courts in determining an issue such as mootness of an appeal.

Id.

In <u>Madden</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal offered further guidance regarding the scope of the "collateral legal consequences" exception forwarded in <u>Westlake</u>, <u>supra</u>. The appellant in that case was able to establish that despite his release during the pendency of his commitment appeal, he suffered

collateral legal consequences (revocation of his medical certificate and suspension of his pilot's certificate) as a result of his involuntary commitment. The Second District Court of Appeal held that such consequences rose to the level of a legal collateral consequence. Madden, at 270-271.

In Everett, supra, the First District Court of Appeal further limited the scope of the mootness doctrine in those instances involving administrative continuation of involuntary placement after the original six month commitment order had The Court held that "[i]f a circuit judge's order of expired. initial involuntary placement is erroneous, subsequent administrative orders of continued involuntary placement, predicated as they are on the initial order, do not render challenges to that order moot". Id. at 1092-1093.

When viewed in light of <u>Kinner</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Westlake</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Madden</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Everett</u>, <u>supra</u>, Petitioner has failed to make any showing that justifies an abrogation of the mootness doctrine in her case. All of the "myriad of social consequences" Petitioner discusses regarding the impact that an involuntary commitment has on an individual after release from custody are of a hypothetical nature and have no application under the facts currently before this Court.

Based on the above-cited case law, Petitioner's appeal was properly dismissed on the grounds of mootness. Similar to the facts in <u>Kinner</u>, Petitioner's appeal involved a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence after the appellant had already been

discharged. In contrast to <u>Kinner</u> however, Petitioner's appeal did not involve any other issues which were of great public importance. Pursuant to this Court's ruling in <u>Kinner</u>, Petitioner's appeal was properly dismissed because there was no meaningful relief that could be provided to Petitioner under the factual circumstances of her case as she had already been released from custody.

Similar to <u>Westlake</u>, Petitioner argues that the social stigma attached to involuntary commitment should bar the application of the mootness doctrine. <u>Westlake</u> properly held that social stigma did not rise to the level of a collateral legal consequence. As Petitioner has failed to allege any actual or potential specific injury that could be cured by a reversal of her commitment, the First District Court of Appeal properly dismissed her appeal as moot.

Unlike the Appellant in Madden, Petitioner has not established any collateral legal consequence of her involuntary commitment. While Petitioner's response to the State's motion to dismiss alleged that Petitioner would potentially suffer adverse employment consequences at least slightly analogous to the situation in Madden, Petitioner has provided no evidence to support that allegation. The State contends that based on Petitioner's five year history of mental illness, there are no grounds for arguing that her involuntary commitment could be the basis for any type of collateral legal consequence as was suffered by the appellant in Madden.

Clearly, Everrett does not apply in Petitioner's case, as she was released rather than recommitted. However, Everett does highlight the fact that a previous involuntary commitment can only be used as the basis for a future involuntary commitment if the commitments are continuous. Except in the case of continuous commitments, the State must prove all of the criteria set out in Section 394.467, F.S., and the State can not rely on previous involuntary commitment as the basis for a future involuntary commitment. Thus, in this state, there is no collateral legal consequence associated with a past commitment in regards to future commitment as is the case in other foreign jurisdictions. See State v. Lodge, 608 S.W. 2d 910, 911 (Tex. 1980) (Texas statute allowing involuntary commitment for indefinite period if individual is treated for at least 60 days pursuant to an order of temporary hospitalization within 12 months immediately proceeding the petition for indefinite involuntary commitment).

Petitioner argues that rather than requiring her or other appellants to establish the existence of collateral consequences in order to avoid application of the mootness doctrine, the State should have the burden of proving an absence of collateral consequences in order to avoid application of the mootness doctrine. Petitioner's argument flies in the face of the basic principle that an appellant has the initial burden to prove that her case involves an actual controversy. It would be an impossibility for the state to prove a negative and would result therefore in an absolute rule that mootness would never apply.

POTENTIAL LIABILITY PURSUANT TO SECTION 394.457(8), F.S.

Petitioner argues that an assessment of fees pursuant to Section 394.457(8), F.S., and Section 402.33, F.S., is a direct consequence of involuntary commitment that prevents Petitioner's claims from being deemed moot. Petitioner further argues that a reversal of her commitment "should result in her being able to successfully assert non-liability for these costs."

Initially, it should be noted that Section 402.33, F.S., specifically states that fees may not be charged to indigents (Section 402.33(1)(g), F.S.), and that the Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services may not require individuals to pay fees in excess of their ability to pay. Section 402.33(6)(a), F.S.

Petitioner was indigent at the time of her involuntary commitment, as evidenced by her representation by the Public Defender's Office. Further, Petitioner has not offered any evidence that she has been held financially liable for the fees associated with her commitment to Florida State Hospital. Thus, Petitioner has not experienced any financial consequence of her commitment and therefore, the issue of whether financial liability under the statute constitutes a collateral legal consequence is not properly before this Court in this case.

Nor is this an issue capable of repetition but evading review. A non-indigent person who could properly raise this argument has access to evidence of such indebtedness in accordance with Ch. 402, F.S.

Additionally, Petitioner's unsupported assertion that the reversal of a commitment would be a valid basis for asserting non-liability for costs assessed pursuant to Section 402.33, F.S., has no basis in the law. Neither Chapter 394, F.S. Chapter 402, F.S., contain language establishing that individuals who have received mental health services and have the ability to pay are no longer liable for payment for these services if the involuntary commitment is overturned. HRS may still be able to collect fees for services rendered to those individuals with the ability to pay based on a quantum merit theory, especially in those instances where the individual would have been paying for food, rent, drug therapy and mental health treatment anyway. Further, an individual does not appear to be precluded from arguing in another judicial forum that his commitment was wrongful as a defense to liability for fees even if his timely filed appeal was dismissed on the grounds of mootness.

PUBLIC POLICY SUPPORTS THE APPLICATION OF THE MOOTNESS DOCTRINE ON A CASE BY CASE BASIS

Public policy supports the case by case approach to the mootness doctrine currently practiced by Florida courts regarding involuntary commitment appeals. This case by case approach ensures that those individuals who suffer from the type of consequences that can be remedied or redressed by a reversal of the commitment will be given the opportunity to appeal. At the same time, this approach supports the judiciary's interest in hearing only those cases involving actual controversies and the state's interest in avoiding further overburdening an already overtaxed legal system.

Under the current approach, an individual who has been released prior to the pendency of her appeal has the opportunity to respond to the State's motion to dismiss by presenting evidence and arguments regarding collateral legal consequences they have or will suffer. Evidence regarding financial liability pursuant to Section 402.33, F.S., impact on employment or future employment, impact on any other legal right that the individual enjoys could be presented to establish that the individual's case falls within one of the exceptions to the mootness doctrine. Of course, as noted previously, if the individual's appeal involves other issues beyond the mere sufficiency of the evidence, those issues could be heard irrespective of the lack of a showing of collateral legal consequences.

asserted that public policy supports Petitioner has complete abrogation of the mootness doctrine in the area of involuntary commitment and thus every individual who has been involuntarily committed should be able to appeal. This assertion based mainly on the argument that social stigma consequence involuntary commitment. unavoidable of an suffer collateral individuals who legal Admittedly, those consequences due to this stigma should be permitted to pursue their appeal irrespective of their release. Collateral legal consequences by their very nature, would be remedied by a reversal of the involuntary commitment. In contrast, unspecific social stigma without attendant collateral legal consequences can not be remedied by reversal of the involuntary commitment.

Further, the United States Supreme Court has noted that it is the symptomatology of a mental or emotional illness that is "truly stigmatizing" Parham v. J.R., 442 U.S. 584, 602, 99 S.Ct. 2493, 2503 (1979) (citing to social science research finding that the stigma of mental hospitalization is not a major problem for the ex-patient" Id. at n.12) The Supreme Court has further noted that "[o]ne who is suffering from a debilitating mental illness and in need of treatment is neither wholly at liberty or free from stigma." Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 429, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 1811 (1979).

The majority of involuntary commitment appeals, including the Petitioner's, do not challenge the determination that the

appellant is suffering from a mental illness, but instead concede the existence of a mental illness and challenge one of the further findings required by Chapter 394, F.S. However, it is the mental illness diagnosis itself and the resultant behavioral symptoms of mental illness that are the root of societal stigma, not hospitalization. Hospitalization, whether voluntary or involuntary, and a subsequent release, may mitigate societal stigma due to the fact that the individual is perceived as being "healed".

Petitioner has cited a number of foreign jurisdiction cases in support of her argument that the mootness doctrine should not be applied to involuntary commitment appeals. these cases contain discussion of the social stigma potentially experienced by involuntarily committed individuals, the decisions in a number of these cases are based on a finding of "collateral legal consequences" rather than mere social stigma. Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 88 S.Ct. 1889 (1968); In re Ballay, 482 F.2d 648 (D.C. Cir. 1973); In re Hatley, 231 S.E.2d 633, 291 N.C. 693 (N.C. 1977); People v. Nunn, 438 N.E.2d 1342, 108 Ill. App. 3d 169 (Ill. App. 5 Dist. 1982). The remaining cases cited by the Petitioner are distinguishable from the case at bar because they involved issues, other than the sufficiency of the evidence, which were either of great public importance and/or capable of repetition but evading review, Matter v. Z.O., 484 A.2d 1287 (N.J. Super A.D. 1984), or involved statutory interpretation of the relevant involuntary commitment statute. See State v. Van Tassel, 484 P.2d 1117, 5 Or. App. 376 (Or. App. 1971) (interpreting Oregon Statute 426.070); Lodge v. State, 597 S.W. 2d 733 (Tex Cir. App. 4 Dist. 1980) (interpreting Tex. Rev. Civ. Stat. Ann. 5547).

A number of foreign jurisdictions continue to support application of the mootness doctrine to commitment appeals, applying the same exceptions as Florida courts. Radulski v. Delaware State Hospital, 562 A.2d 562 (Del. 1988); In re Faucher, 558 A.2d 705 (Me. 1989); In re Robledo, 341 N.W.2d 278 (Minn. 1983); State Ex Rel D.W. v. Hensley, 574 S.W.2d 389 (Mo. 1978); Diamond v. Cross, 662 P.2d 828 (Wash. 1983); In re G.S., 348 N.W. 2d 181 (Wis. 1984).

The case of <u>Radulski</u>, <u>supra</u>, is noteworthy in that the Delaware Supreme Court encouraged attorneys to utilize expedited review of involuntary commitment cases as a way of avoiding application of the mootness doctrine. <u>Id</u>. at 566. Expedited review would be an option in Florida, especially in those instances where counsel for the committed individual believes that the commitment is clearly wrongful and that the committed individual will thus be quickly released by the hospital from custody. As evidenced by the record in this case, involuntary commitment proceedings are relatively short and uncomplicated. A notice of appeal could be submitted immediately and the trial judge could order expedited preparation of the transcript and

record. It would be the responsibility of the appellant to timely submit an initial brief and to motion the appellate court for expedited consideration of the appeal. Not only would this have the effect of avoiding a dismissal on the grounds of mootness, it would serve the committed individual's interest in being released as soon as possible.

It may be that the potential stigma associated with an involuntary commitment supports an argument that the mootness doctrine should not be applied summarily to commitment appeals without giving the appellant the opportunity to present evidence of collateral legal consequences that may result from stigma. However, the potentiality of stigma is not an adequate basis for abrogating the mootness doctrine altogether.

The state has an interest in efficiently utilizing its limited resources. Complete abrogation of the mootness doctrine regarding involuntary commitment appeals will increase the number of appeals that the district courts must hear and will increase the workload of public defenders and assistant attorneys general. In light of the fact that the current mootness doctrine ensures that all individuals who are in a position to obtain meaningful relief from reversal of the involuntary comitment can do so, there is no compelling justification for increasing the burden on the state's legal system.

Counsel for Petitioner, pursuant to an extension granted by the First District Court of Appeal, did not submit an initial

brief challenging Petitioner's commitment until January 23, 1990, almost six months after the commitment order was entered. Petitioner argues that the short nature of certain individuals' commitment stays contributes to the problem of their commitment evading review. However, this problem can be largely attributed to the nature of the regular appellate process and an effort to process involuntary commitment appeals through an expedited process would alleviate this problem.

In conclusion, the current case by case application of the mootness doctrine as evidenced by <u>Kinner</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Westlake</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>Madden</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Everett</u>, <u>supra</u>, appropriately balances the competing interests implicated in involuntary commitment appeals. Petitioner has failed to present any adequate justification for abrogating the mootness doctrine in her case or as a general principle in all commitment cases.

Petitioner has failed to present any evidence of any collateral legal consequences suffered as a result of her involuntary commitment and thus her appeal was properly dismissed as moot. Respondent respectfully requests this Court to uphold the lower court's decision finding Petitioner's appeal moot.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE STATE MET ITS BURDEN OF SHOWING BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT THE PETITIONER, BY HER NEGLECT AND REFUSAL TO CARE FOR HERSELF, POSED A REAL AND SUBSTANTIAL THREAT OF HARM TO HER WELL-BEING.

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